#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### Case No. SC10-1335 Circuit Case No. 1978-CF-0052

FREDDIE LEE HALL,

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL

CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO, COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Carol C. Rodriguez

Florida Bar No. 0931720 Assistant CCRC

#### Raheela Ahmed

Florida Bar No. 0713457
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel - Middle
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619-1136
813-740-3544
Attorneys for Appellant
Freddie Lee Hall

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Hall was tried in Putnam County in 1978. The jury found him guilty of first degree murder and recommended death. The original sentence was imposed on June 27, 1978 and affirmed in *Hall v. State*, 403 So. 2d. 1321 (Fla. 1981). A Motion To Vacate sentence was filed in September 1982, and later, this denial was affirmed in Hall v. State, 420 So. 2d 872 (Fla. 1982). The Federal District Court denied a Petition for Habeas Corpus. See Hall v. Wainwright, 565 F.Supp.1222 (M.D. Fla. 1983). The Eleventh Circuit Court of appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part, remanding for hearing. See Hall v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984, cert denied, 105 S.Ct. 2344 (1985). On remand, the Federal District court denied relief and the Circuit Court of Appeal affirmed. Hall v. Wainwright, 805 F.2d 945 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, Hall v. Dugger, 108 S.Ct. 248 (1987). A State Habeas Corpus Petition was denied. Hall v. Dugger, 531 So. 2d. 76 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Hall appealed the Circuit Court's order denying his motion to vacate death sentence. This court held that it was reversible error to preclude defense counsel from presenting non-statutory mitigating circumstances in sentencing proceedings and remanded. See Hall v. State, 541 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1989). Following recusal by the original trial judge, re-sentencing proceedings were conducted and Mr. Hall was re-sentenced to death. On appeal following

resentencing, this court affirmed the sentence. *See Hall v. State*, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993). Mr. Hall sought post-conviction relief following affirmance of his sentence and his motion to vacate was denied. Mr. Hall appealed to this Honorable Court who upheld the Circuit Court's decision. *See Hall v. State*, 742 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1999). Mr. Hall filed a Federal Habeas Petition on August 7, 2000, which was administratively closed on July 11, 2001, pending the resolution of his state court proceedings.

Mr. Hall filed a motion in Circuit Court to declare *Fla. Stat.* § 921.137

Unconstitutional in light of *Atkins v. Virginia*, 122 S.Ct. 2242 (2002) (holding that execution of mentally retarded defendants is excessive and prohibited under the Eighth Amendment) as the Florida Statute did not apply retroactively to bar the execution of mentally retarded individuals such as Mr. Hall that had already been sentenced. As such, Mr. Hall asserted that the Statute was unconstitutional.

While the aforementioned motion was pending before the Circuit Court, this Honorable Court adopted *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.203 as a mechanism to afford defendants who had already been sentenced prior to *Atkins* an opportunity to raise claim of mental retardation. On November 30, 2004, Mr. Hall filed a timely Successor 3.851 Motion as outlined by *Fla. R. Crim. P.* but the trial court took no action on the motion.

On March 27, 2008, Mr. Hall filed a Motion To Prohibit Re-Litigation of the Mental Retardation Issue and asserted that requiring him to establish again a fact that had been found by the trial court (mental retardation) was prohibited by Collateral Estoppel and constituted a violation of the Double Jeopardy principles violating his rights under the Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of Florida's Constitution. See Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970); see Burks v. United States, 437 U.S.1, 16 (1978); see Arizona v. Rumsey, 467 U.S. 203,211 (1984); see Bullington v. Missouri, 451 U.S. 430,445 (1981); see Sattazahn v. Pennsylvania, 537 U.S. 101,109 (2003). The trial court denied Mr. Hall's motion for relief. Mr. Hall appealed the trial court's non final order. Mr. Hall relied upon Bies v. Bagley, 519 F.3d 324 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994) in support of his argument. The United States Supreme Court reversed and remanded in *Bobby v. Bies*, 129 S. Ct. 2145, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1173 (2009). The Circuit Court held an evidentiary hearing on the Defendant's Successive Motion to Vacate his sentence under Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.851 and 3.203, the rule Barring Execution of the Defendant Due to Mental Retardation on December 7-8, 2009. The Circuit Court denied relief an order issued on May 26, 2010 (PC-ROA. Vol. IV, pp. 585-595) and Amended Order dated June 16, 2010. (PC-ROA. Vol. IV, pp. 596-606).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

When *Atkins v. Virginia* was decided by the U.S. Supreme Court in 2002, Mr. Hall's case was final in terms of its' procedural posture. The Defendant, Freddie Lee Hall, presented evidence that consisted of structured interviews of relatives, psychological and intelligence testing and results of medical, psychiatric and scholastic records to his sentencing court in support of his claim that he is a mentally retarded man.

Mr. Hall began school in 1951, at age 6. He failed the second grade year and guidance counselors commented on document in 1952 (age7), regarding his low mental maturity. His slow performance is documented in school records and in 1955 (age 10) he was described as "mentally retarded". The school records document Hall's continued slow performance through 1956-1958, and he was again described as "mentally retarded" in records by school counselors in 1961.

A DOC report referenced Hall as having an IQ of 68 at age 24 on August 22, 1969, Dr. Jethro Toomer (Psychologist) testified that Hall's IQ in August, 1988, was 60. In 1991, Dr. Harry Krop's (Psychologist's) administration of a WAIS-R yielded a score of 73 and in 1995, Dr. Zimmerman's (Psychologist's) administration of a WAIS yielded a 74 IQ.

In the Court's Findings of Fact For Sentencing order which was filed in open court on February 21, 1991, the judge made a factual finding that Freddie Lee Hall was mentally retarded and stated as follows:

# (b) <u>Freddie Lee Hall has been mentally retarded his entire life</u>. There is substantial evidence in the record to support this finding. Again, however, there is difficulty in relating this factor back to determine how it affected the defendant's state of mind at the time of the crime. The mitigating factors of this fact are thus unquantifiable.

(RS-ROA, Vol. V, p. 653).

At Hall's evidentiary hearing, Dr. Prichard testified that Hall was socially promoted, information that was corroborated by a DOC Classification report dated December 24, 1968. Mr. Hall dropped out in the 11th grade and attempted to join the military. He was rejected from military service due to very low score following his mental examination test. Hall's pre-sentence investigation report dated December 20, 1968, confirms that he functioned mentally at a low level and was socially promoted in school.

Based upon all of the evidence presented in 1991, the trial court found Hall mentally retarded but expressed in the sentencing order difficulty in the weighing of this type of mitigating evidence at sentencing. Mr. Hall informed the court that he would rely upon all of the evidence he had already submitted in the record as to his deficiencies and formally requested that the trial court take judicial notice prior evidence contained in the record in support of his claim of mental retardation.

Specifying information in ROA (Record on Appeal from Re-Sentencing Proceedings held in 1990), ROA, Vols. IV, (pp. 528-684), V (pp. 685-883), VI, (pp. 884-1081), VII, (pp. 1082-1280), VIII (pp. 1281-1450), IX (pp. 1451-1637), X (pp. 1638-1693), X I (pp.1694-1878) ,XII (pp. 1879-2053), XIII, (pp. 2054-2259) be afforded judicial notice.

In support of his claim of mental retardation Mr. Hall provided at the evidentiary hearing a report dated November 19, 2001, prepared by psychologist Dr. Bill E. Mosman, which documented Hall's full scale intelligence test score at 69. According to Dr. Mosman's report, he administered a Wecshler Adult Intelligence Test - 3<sup>rd</sup> Ed. (WAIS - III) on August, 2002, and Hall scored aVerbal IQ score of 73, a Performance IQ score of 70, and a Full Scale IQ Score of 69. A Leiter Adult Intelligence Scale was administered and Hall scored a Verbal IQ score of 55, Performance SIQ score of 47. Hall's Full Scale IQ score was reported at 51 on this test. A Slosson Intelligence Test Revised was administered and results indicated that Hall functions at the mental age equivalency level of a 10 year 6 month old child. The WRAT-III was administered and results indicated general functioning consistent with a first grade child (ages 7 or 8). A Vineland Adaptive Behavior test was completed and a composite score of 51 was recorded. Based upon the testing and evaluation of Mr. Hall, Dr. Mosman concluded in his report that Mr. Freddie Lee Hall is mildly mentally retarded.

In August, 2002, Psychologist Dr. Prichard administered a Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-3rd Edition. Dr. Prichard testified at Hall's evidentiary hearing that he obtained a score of 71 in his testing of Hall and that the 71 score is statistically consistent with the FSIQ score of 69 as recorded nine months previously by Dr. Mosman. Dr. Prichard testified that he reviewed Dr. Mosman's report and that he relied upon it in his analysis of Mr. Hall.

Dr. Prichard testified at Hall's evidentiary hearing that it is not unusual in his profession for information regarding evaluations to be communicated between psychologists in written report format. He testified that his profession requires that any raw material data associated with psychological testing can only be released directly to another licensed psychologist. Dr. Prichard testified that he did not request and did not have the raw material data associated with Dr. Mosman's testing of Hall. He stated that Dr. Mosman is deceased.

The State orally moved the trial court to impose sanctions against defense counsel for violation of an early discovery order issued by the court based upon the Defendant's failure to provide Dr. Mosman's raw material data to the State. Defense counsel informed the trial court that Dr. Mosman's report was promptly provided to the State by Hall's previous defense counsel, but that Dr. Mosman's raw material data had never been obtained by the Defendant so no violation of the court's discovery order occurred. In view of the fact that Dr. Prichard testified that

he had never received or used the raw material data, the Defense argued that there was no unfair advantage or prejudice to the State.

No witness or evidence was presented to refute Dr. Prichard's testimony that such data can only be released between licensed psychologists. No witness or testimony was presented to refute Dr. Prichard's testimony that he never possessed this raw material data. No witness or evidence was presented to establish that the raw material data was necessary for the expert to have in order to render an opinion. The State presented no witness or evidence that this information had been requested from Defense. No expert witness or evidence was submitted to support the State's claim of prejudice.

The trial court held that Defendant's counsel had inadvertently violated an early discovery order issued by the court due their failure to provide Dr. Mosman's raw material data to the State and that the State had suffered prejudice. The Court ruled to strike Dr. Mosman's report.

Dr. Prichard testified that individuals may score low intelligence scores of 67 or 68 and not be diagnosed as mentally retarded if their adaptive skills are adequate. (PC-ROA, Vol. V, EH., T. - p. 174) Dr. Prichard testified that an individual who scores a full scale intelligence (IQ) of 71,72 or 73 and suffers significant adaptive deficits may be diagnosed as mentally retarded. Dr. Prichard testified that mental retardation is a static condition that generally shows little

change over the course of an individual's life. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 271-272) .

Mr. Lugene Ellis, Hall's brother, testified that Mr. Hall was never able to function independently. He explained that Hall was not able to hold an independent job and worked for him as a fruit picker (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - pp. 71). Ellis described Hall as having problems performing even the simple task of fruit picking and that he did not seem to realize what was required. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - pp. 71-72). He described Hall's low intelligence and difficulties in performing and understanding the simplest of tasks. Mr. Ellis explained that Hall never drove, lacked knowledge about vehicles and was even unable to complete simple instruction of filling up a tractor with oil without emptying the can. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 74).

Mr. Ellis described Hall as unlike any of the other eleven (11) siblings in their family. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 67). In addition to describing Hall's very abnormal behavior, he described Hall's serious speech impediments and described Hall as speaking foolishly all of the time. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 69) Mr. Ellis described additional deficits in Hall adaptive skills as manifested by his inability to read, testified that Hall could not write and that he is currently unable to understand Hall's writing in letters that he is **currently receiving** from prison. (emphasis added) He testified that the quality of his brother's

correspondence is so poor that it is unreadable and believes no person can read it. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 70). Freddie Lee Hall's serious speech impediments and impaired social skills are examples of his adaptive functioning deficits. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - pp.124-125).

Mr. Ellis testified that he still visits his incarcerated brother and described his continuing communication problems. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 75) He described Hall's bizarre behavior when consuming food which continues to current day. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 75) Bishop Hall testified that he has been visiting his brother throughout the last 31 plus years that he has been incarcerated. The last visit was a month ago and he stated that he may have visited approximately 3-4 times during the year. He testified to visiting UCI every time traveling through area, approximately two to four times a year. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 94) Bishop Hall testified that he visits Freddie Hall and listens to him and he talks to him but advises that some things he talks about do not make sense. Hall's letters cannot be understood. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 96) Bishop Hall testified that Freddie Hall cannot read. Hall quotes scripture that is not synonymous to known scripture, just what he thinks it means. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 97)

Following invocation of the rule, Bishop James Hall, another of Hall's siblings, was called to testify at Hall's evidentiary hearing and corroborated

testimony provided by Mr. Ellis as to Hall's many adaptive deficits. Bishop Hall testified that his brother just did not function normally, and he acted very different from the other children. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 84) He testified as to Hall's serious speech impediments. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. p. 85)

Bishop James Hall testified that he was aware that Hall had a very low IQ in school and lacked the ability of his other siblings, that his brother could not write and did not finish school. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. -p. 88). Although records show Hall completed 11<sup>th</sup> grade, Bishop Hall testified that Hall was just socially promoted by the school. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. -p. 88). He testified that Hall had never lived independently (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. -p. 88) and had only held menial jobs. Bishop Hall explained that Hall had never been able to care for himself and that siblings had taken care of him. He testified that Hall was unable to bathe or look after himself and that these deficits continued through to adulthood. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. -p. 87).

Bishop Hall described his brother as someone who was never able to read, and stated that his brother could not write anything that you could understand. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 85) He described his Hall's bizarre pattern of writing as circular and over the course of prison visits spanning thirty odd years testified that he has never seen Freddie Hall read anything. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 100). Bishop Hall testified that he visits his brother while incarcerated and that his

inability to read and write is the same today. Bishop Hall testified that the letters currently written by Mr. Hall which he receives from prison cannot be read, it has his name on it but he is unable to understand any of the contents in them. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 86) Hall's letters were described as words all over the page of such poor quality that Bishop Hall testified he didn't even attempt trying to read it. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 99) Bishop Hall also testified that Hall's conversation is not like ours, he described Hall as someone who is on another level, and that what he attempts to communicate cannot be understood. (PC-ROA, Vol. V. EH., T. - p. 86).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred by failing to grant the Defendant's Motion to Impose A Life Sentence following Atkins based upon the record in 2002. The Trial court erred by failing to take judicial notice of substantial evidence which Mr. Hall presented at his 1990 re-sentencing which had resulted in a factual finding that Mr. Freddie Lee Hall is mentally retarded. The trial court abused its' discretion by failing to consider all of the evidence on this issue in spite of a motion filed by defendant for the court to take judicial notice, and abused its' discretion by ignoring the 1990 factual finding that Mr. Hall is mentally retarded. The United States Supreme Court recognized a standard error of measurement of plus or minus five points applicable to the intelligence score in accordance with the DSM-IV-TR

practice manual used by psychologists when evaluating for mental retardation diagnosis. To ensure that the constitutional right to equal protection under the law is afforded to Florida citizens, this Court must recognize the applicability of a standard error of measurement applies on intelligence tests and accept that the prohibition against imposition of a death sentence to mentally retarded individuals extends to those who score within a professionally recognized mental retardation range as opposed to a fixed arbitrary score.

The trial court erroneously applied improper criteria in assessing Mr. Hall's mental retardation by adopting the State's position that an individual with an IQ above 70, is never to be considered mentally retarded. The trial court abused its' discretion by restricting the evidence that Defendant sought to introduce on the three prongs to establish mental retardation, in spite of plain language in *Fla. Stat.* § 921.137 and *Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203* which requires that all three prongs must be assessed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

## **Argument I:**

The standard of review of a trial court's finding regarding a defendant's mental retardation is whether competent, substantial evidence supports the finding. *Johnston v. State*, 960 So.2d 757 (Fla. 2006).

#### **Arguments II, III, IV:**

The standard of review for actions taken by the trial court is an Abuse of Discretion Standard.

Discretion . . . is abused when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion.

Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980).

#### ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT MR. HALL IS NOT MENTALLY RETARDED IS NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND VIOLATES ATKINS AND THE FIFTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS.

# A. The Federal Constitution Bars The Execution Of The Mentally Retarded.

The Supreme Court of the United States held in *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 317 (2002), that it is a violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution to execute the mentally retarded. This Court has recognized the holding in *Atkins* and acknowledged that it represents a matter of federal constitutional law. *See Hurst v. State*, 18 So. 3d 975, 1008 n.9 (Fla. 2009); *see Phillps v. State*, 984 So. 2d 503,509 (Fla. 2008); *see Johnston v. State*, 960 So. 2d

757,760-61 (Fla. 2006); see Foster v. State, 929 So.2d 524,531 (Fla. 2006); & see Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 2005).

The *Atkins* Court relied upon definitions employed by the American Association of Mental Retardation (AAMR) and the American Psychiatric Association (APA), which use definitions that are substantially the same.

The AAMR definition of mental retardation cited in the *Atkins* decision is as follows:

Mental retardation refers to substantial limitations in present functioning. It is characterized by significantly subaverage intellectual functioning, existing concurrently with related limitations in two or more of the following applicable adaptive skill areas: communication, self-care, home living, social skills, community use, self-direction, health and safety, functional academics, leisure, and work. Mental retardation manifests before age 18.

American Association on Mental Retardation, Mental Retardation: Definition, Classification, and Systems of Supports 5 (9th ed. 1992) (AAMR 9th ed.).

# The APA defines mental retardation similarly:

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