## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-1335

FREDDIE LEE HALL

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

> PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hall is not mentally retarded as a matter of law. Longstanding precedent, which was reaffirmed in Franqui, requires a full scale IQ score below 70, something that Hall does not have. Under settled precedent, Hall cannot carry his burden of proof, and has failed to show, under controlling law, that he is exempt from execution under Atkins -- he is not mentally retarded and Atkins does him no good.

The collateral proceeding trial court did not abuse its discretion in not allowing the report of deceased psychologist Mosman into evidence. Hall has omitted the fact that the report was not received into evidence because of a discovery violation. And, even if that report had been received and considered, it would not affect the outcome. There is no abuse of discretion, and no basis for relief.

The collateral estoppel/issue preclusion claim is foreclosed by binding precedent. The fact that Hall's mental status was considered as mitigation years before Atkins was decided has no effect on the need to address a claim of mental retardation as a bar to execution under Atkins and the prevailing law. There is no double jeopardy, nor would it be appropriate to refuse to consider the retardation claim in light

of *Atkins*, which admittedly changed the landscape. There is no basis for relief.

### ARGUMENT

## I. & II. HALL IS NOT "MENTALLY RETARDED" AS A MATTER OF LAW<sup>8</sup>

On pages 14-49 of his brief, Hall discusses, at length, the problems he perceives with controlling law as it governs claims of mental retardation as a bar to execution. At its core, Hall's brief would have this Court overrule *Cherry*, *Zack*, *Phillips* and *Nixon* -- without that result, Hall cannot win. The problem for Hall, which admittedly he did not know about when he filed his brief, is this Court's decision in *Franqui* v. *State*, where this Court held explicitly that *Cherry* and *Nixon* mean what they say. If there had been any legitimate debate about the status of Florida law on the mental retardation issue, *Franqui* settled it:

Recognizing that Franqui's scores prohibit him from meeting the current requirements of the test for mental retardation as a bar to execution, Franqui's counsel argued below and now argues on appeal that by imposing a strict cut-off IQ score of 70 for a finding of mental retardation, this Court has violated the Eighth Amendment and failed to follow the United States Supreme Court's decision in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). He asks the Court to revisit Cherry and Nixon to determine if we have misapplied the holding in Atkins by setting a bright-line, full scale IQ of 70 or below as the cut-off score in order to meet the first prong of the three-prong test for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In Claim I, Hall at least pays lip service to the state of Florida law, which requires an IQ score of less than 70 to avoid execution due to mental retardation. In Claim II, Hall completely ignores that settled law.

mental retardation. He contends that *Atkins* approved a wider range of IQ test results that can meet the test for mental retardation. Therefore, the issue presented is solely a question of law subject to *de novo* review. As explained below, a reading of *Atkins* reveals that the Supreme Court did not mandate a specific IQ score or range for a finding of mental retardation in the capital sentencing process.

## Atkins v. Virginia

In Atkins v. Virginia, the United States Supreme Court overruled Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302 (1989), [FN8] declared that the mentally retarded must and be excluded from execution. Atkins, 536 U.S. at 318. In reaching its holding, the Supreme Court discussed the definitions of mental retardation promulgated by the American Association on Mental Retardation (AAMR) [FN9] and the American Psychiatric Association (APA). The Supreme Court found the two associations had similar definitions, defining the test for mental retardation as having three prongs: (1) significantly subaverage intellectual functioning; (2) limitations in adaptive functioning; and (3) mental retardation manifested before 18 years of age. Id. at 308 n.3. These same three prongs constitute the test for mental retardation under Florida law. The Supreme Court did note that an IQ between 70 and 75 or lower is typically considered the cut-off IQ score for the intellectual function prong of the mental retardation definition. Id. n.5. However, the Supreme Court did not mandate an IQ range of between 70 and 75 for a finding of mental retardation.

[FN8] *Penry* held that executing mentallv retarded people convicted of capital offenses is not categorically prohibited by the Eighth Amendment. This holding was abrogated in Atkins, when the Supreme Court held that executions of the mentally retarded are cruel and unusual punishments prohibited by the Eighth Amendment to the federal constitution.

[FN9] The AAMR has since changed its name to the American Association of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. It will continue to be referred to here as AAMR.

The Supreme Court in Atkins recognized that "[n]ot all people who claim to be mentally retarded will be so impaired as to fall within the range of mentally retarded offenders about whom there is a national consensus." Atkins, 536 U.S. at 317. In addition, the Supreme Court noted that the statutory definitions for mental retardation that were already in existence were not identical, but generally conformed to the clinical definition provided by the AAMR and APA. Atkins, 536 U.S. at 317 n.22. [FN10] Consequently, the Supreme Court followed its approach in Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399 (1986), [FN11] and left to the states "the task of developing appropriate ways to enforce the constitutional restriction upon [their] execution of sentences." Atkins, 536 U.S. at 317 (quoting Ford, 477 U.S. at 416-17).

In footnote 22, the Supreme Court [FN10] stated that "[t]he statutory definitions of mental retardation are not identical, but the generally conform to clinical definitions set forth in n.3, supra." Atkins, 536 U.S. at 317 n.22. Footnote 3 notes that the APA and AAMR have similar definitions of retardation requiring mental proof of significantly subaverage intellectual functioning, existing concurrently with limitations in two or more areas of adaptive functioning, all manifesting before age 18. Id. at 309 n.3.

[FN11]. Ford v. Wainwright involved insanity as a bar to the death penalty.

When Atkins was issued, Florida had already enacted its statute prohibiting the execution of the mentally retarded. § 921.137, Fla. Stat. (2001). Section 921.137(1), Florida Statutes (2009), which is almost identical to the 2001 version of the statute, provides in pertinent part as follows:

921.137 Imposition of the death sentence upon a defendant with mental retardation prohibited.- (1) As used in this section,

"mental retardation" means the term significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning existing deficits concurrently in adaptive with behavior and manifested during the period from conception to aqe 18. The term "significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning," for the purpose of this section, means performance that is two or more standard deviations from the mean score on a standardized intelligence test specified by the Agency for Persons with Disabilities. The term "adaptive behavior," for the purpose of this definition, means the effectiveness or degree with which an individual meets the standards of personal social independence and responsibility expected of his or her age, cultural group, and community.

### Cherry v. State

The proper interpretation of section 921.137(1) was raised in Cherry v. State, 959 So. 2d 702, 711 (Fla. 2007), where the question before the Court was whether section 921.137(1) and rule 3.203 mandate a strict score of 70 or below cut-off on an approved standardized test in order to establish significantly subaverage intellectual functioning. [FN12] Cherry, 959 So. 2d at 712. In his appeal, Cherry contended in pertinent part that an IQ measurement is more appropriately expressed as a range of scores rather than a concrete single number because of the standard error of measurement (SEM). However, we held in Cherry:

One standard deviation on the WAIS-III, the IQ test administered in the instant case, is fifteen points, so two standard deviations away from the mean of 100 is an IQ score of 70. As pointed out by the circuit court, the statute does not use the word approximate, nor does it reference the SEM. Thus, the language of the statute and the corresponding rule are clear. We defer to the plain meaning of the statutes[.] *Id.* at 712-13. This same holding was reiterated in *Nixon*, which we discuss next.

[FN12] Cherry did not involve a claim that section 921.137 is unconstitutional in how it defines mental retardation. Instead, the claim sought clarification regarding Florida's definition of subaverage intellectual functioning.

### Nixon v. State

In Nixon, the appellant raised several arguments challenging this Court's decision in Cherry. The essence of the arguments in Nixon, which are similar to the arguments Franqui makes in this case, is that based on language in Atkins, a firm IQ cut-off score 70 or below is not the proper standard for of determining mental retardation. Nixon, 2 So. 3d at 142. Nixon asserted, as does Franqui, that the Supreme Court in Atkins noted a consensus in the scientific community that a full scale IQ falling within a range of 70 to 75 meets the first prong of the test for mental retardation; therefore, Nixon contended, states must recognize the higher cut-off IQ score of 75. Nixon, 2 So. 3d at 142. We disagreed, reasoning that Atkins recognized a difference of opinion among various sources as to who should be classified as mentally retarded, and consequently left to the states the task of developing appropriate ways to enforce the constitutional restriction on imposition of the death sentence on mentally retarded persons. Nixon, 2 So. 3d at 142.

Nixon further asserted that this Court's definition of mental retardation violates both the United States and Florida constitutions because Cherry's interpretation of section 921.137 is inconsistent with the constitutional bar of on the execution mentally retarded persons. We found Nixon's claim without merit based in part on an earlier finding by the Court in Jones v. State, 966 So. 2d 319, 326 (Fla. 2007), that Florida's definition of mental retardation is consistent with the APA's diagnostic criteria for mental retardation. Nixon, 2 So. 3d at 143.

Based on the broad authority given in Atkins to the states to enact their own laws to determine who is mentally retarded, without any requirement that the states adhere to one definition over another, we deny Franqui's claim that our interpretation of Atkins is infirm. Because the circuit court had competent, substantial evidence to find that under current Florida law Franqui is not mentally retarded, the order of the circuit court denying Franqui's mental retardation claim is affirmed.

Franqui v. State, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S1, 3-4 (Fla., Jan. 6, 2011). (emphasis added). In light of Franqui, Hall cannot win -- as the trial court found, only one IQ score (which was not considered because the examiner is dead and unavailable for cross-examination) was below 70. All of the other scores, including the most recent score on the newest available test, exceed the cut-off score of 70 established by Florida law.<sup>9</sup> Under settled law, which, after Franqui cannot be seriously debated, Hall loses.

While not perhaps strictly necessary to disposition of Claims I and II, Hall makes a number of assertions in his brief that are inaccurate. *Franqui* has settled the question of what Hall derisively calls the "absolute cut-off score of 70" -- that cut-off is exactly what Florida law requires. There can be no colorable argument that a "standard error of measure" is applicable, nor can there be any other colorable argument for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The WAIS-IV, which the defendant in *Johnston* claimed was the best possible test, generated a score of 72 -- Hall simply has no facts to support his claim that he is mentally retarded.

manipulation of the IQ test scores. That issue is settled.

To the extent that Hall says that some error occurred because the trial court required him to go forward with evidence score component before presenting evidence of the IO of "adaptive functioning" or "age of onset," those complaints (pages 42-49 of the Initial Brief) ignore the obvious and settled requirement that a defendant seeking exemption for execution because of mental retardation must have an IQ less than 70 in order to satisfy Florida law. If the defendant, like Hall, cannot establish the requisite IQ score, the remaining two components of the definition of mental retardation do not matter, and cannot save the claim. Stated differently, the fact that Hall's IQ is above the cut-off score is fatal to his claim of mental retardation as a bar to execution.<sup>10</sup>

To the extent that Hall claims that Johnston v. State, 27 So. 3d 11 (Fla. 2010), requires the trial court to consider all three components of the definition of mental retardation even though it is clear that the defendant cannot establish one or more of those components, that decision does not say that, and, in fact, says nothing at all about mental retardation, Atkins, or any other issue that is relevant to this appeal. There is no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In any event, and to the extent that it matters at all, Hall has not identified any evidence that he wanted to present that he did not put on, at least as a proffer. His complaints are hollow.

requirement that a court considering a claim of mental retardation conduct a pointless exercise by "evaluating" all three components of the definition of mental retardation when it is clear beyond doubt that the defendant cannot establish one or more of them. Such a requirement would make no sense, and would do no more than expend judicial resources to no end. Hall's IQ is above the cut-off established by Florida law, and that is the end of the issue. He is not mentally retarded as a matter of law, and is not entitled to relief of any sort.

### III. THE "MOSMAN REPORT" CLAIM

On pages 49-63 of his brief, Hall complains at length that the trial court "erred by striking" Mosman's report. Evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); *Cole v. State*, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); *Jent v. State*, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981); *General Elec. Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 118 S.Ct. 512, 517, 139 L.Ed.2d 508 (1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse of discretion."). When the true facts surrounding the Mosman report are considered, there is no basis for relief.

In addressing the issue of the Mosman report, the trial court said:

During the course of the Defendant's two-day evaluation, Dr. Prichard also reviewed a vast amount of information and reports relating to the Defendant.

Dr. Prichard examined reports from a number of doctors and researchers of which one, a report generated by Dr. Bill E. Mosman, was of particular significance to the Defendant. The Defendant attempted to introduce a report generated by a Dr. Bill E. Mosman through the testimony of Dr. Prichard on direct examination. (R. 162). Dr. Mosman's November 19, 2001 report indicated that the Defendant obtained an I.Q. score of sixtynine (69), using the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third Edition. Importantly, Dr. Mosman's report lacked critical detail and information indicating how he obtained Defendant's intelligence quotient of sixtynine (69). In particular, Dr. Mosman's report lacked discussion as to the testing instrument he used and how he used it in evaluating the Defendant, lacked discussion regarding the raw data that Dr. Mosman may have complied and examined in evaluating the Defendant, and lacked discussion on any other notes that may have related to Dr. Mosman's evaluation of the Defendant. (R. 162).

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